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JURISDICTION: 
 
The hearing was conducted, and this decision was written, pursuant to the Individuals with 
Disabilities Act (“IDEA”), P.L. 101-476, as amended by P.L. 105-17 and the Individuals 
with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, the District of Columbia Code, Title 38 
Subtitle VII, and the District of Columbia Municipal Regulations, Title 5 Chapter E30.   The Due 
Process Hearing was convened on June 7, 2017, and June 8, 2017, at the District of Columbia 
Office of the State Superintendent of Education (“OSSE”) Office of Dispute Resolution 810 First 
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20003, in Hearing Room 2003.    
 
BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY:  
 
The student is age ______and in grade _____.2    resides in the District of Columbia and is a 
child with a disability pursuant to IDEA with disability classification of other multiple 
disabilities (“MD”) including specific learning disability (“SLD”) and other health impairment 
(“OHI”) due to Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (“ADHD”).  
 
The student currently attends a District of Columbia public charter school  (“School A”) for 
which the District of Columbia Public Schools (“DCPS”) is the local educational agency 
(“LEA”).  The student began attending School A at the start of school year (“SY”) 2013-2014.    
The student’s current individualized education program (“IEP”) was developed on February 27, 
2017.   The student’s parent (“Petitioner”) filed the current due process complaint on March 24, 
2017, alleging, inter alia, that the student’s February 27, 2017, IEP is inappropriate and School A 
failed to implement that IEP.   
 
Petitioner filed a previous due process complaint on August 25, 2016. On November 2, 2016, 
another Hearing Officer issued a Hearing Officer’s Determination (“HOD”) on the August 25, 
2016, due process complaint in which he found that DCPS as the LEA denied the student a free 
appropriate public education (“FAPE”).  The HOD ordered DCPS to fund an independent 
comprehensive psychological evaluation (“IEE”) and to convene a meeting to review the IEE 
and develop an appropriate IEP and provide an appropriate placement.  The HOD stated that 
remedy was partial compensation for the denial of FAPE and that the Petitioner could reserve 
additional compensatory education until the IEE was completed.  
 
Petitioner obtained an independent evaluation pursuant to that HOD and School A reviewed the 
evaluation on February 27, 2017, and developed the IEP that Petitioner is challenging in the 
current due process complaint.  Petitioner is also seeking in the current due process complaint 
compensatory education based on the November 2, 2016, HOD.  
 
RELIEF SOUGHT:  
  
Petitioner seeks as relief that the Hearing Officer find that DCPS, as the LEA has denied the 
student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP on February 27, 2017, and by failing to 
implement the February 27, 2017, IEP until March 22, 2017, when the IEP was provided to 

                                                
2 The student’s current age and grade are in indicated in Appendix B. 
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Petitioner and that the Hearing Officer order DCPS to fund appropriate compensatory 
education.3 
 
LEA Response to the Complaint:   
 
The LEA filed a timely response to the complaint on April 6, 2017.  The LEA denies that there 
has been any failure to provide the student with a FAPE.  The LEA asserts that the Petitioner’s 
claims related to the appropriateness of the student’s placements are barred pursuant to res 
judicata.  The LEA contends the appropriateness of the student’s placement was decided, and all 
relief was awarded in the November 2, 2016, HOD.  The LEA contends that it neither 
understands, nor agrees with Petitioner’s compensatory education issue, and is not aware of an 
award of compensatory education beyond the IEE. 
 
The LEA asserted on February 27, 2017, the multi-disciplinary team (“MDT”) reviewed the 
student’s IEE and determined that the student qualified for special education and related services 
as a student with a SLD and OHI.  Petitioner was present and participated in the development of 
the student’s IEP and the team determined the student’s IEP was appropriate and that the 
placement provided is the student’s least restrictive environment (“LRE”).  The LEA asserts that 
it  has provided the student with a FAPE and Petitioner chose for the student to remain at School 
A. 
 
Resolution Meeting and Pre-Hearing Conference: 
  
The parties participated in a resolution meeting on the complaint on March 28, 2017.  The parties 
did not resolve the complaint.  The parties did not mutually agree to proceed directly to hearing 
in this matter.  The 45-day period began on April 24, 2017, and ended [and the Hearing Officer’s 
Determination (“HOD”) was originally due] on June 7, 2017.   However, the parties filed a joint 
motion that was granted extending the HOD due date to June 20, 2017.  
 
The undersigned Impartial Hearing Officer (“Hearing Officer”) convened a pre-hearing 
conference (“PHC”) on the amended complaint on April 19, 2017, and issued a pre-hearing order 
(“PHO”) on April 24, 2017, outlining, inter alia, the issues to be adjudicated.  
 
ISSUES: 4 
 
The issues adjudicated are:  
 

                                                
3 In the due process complaint Petitioner stated a number of proposed resolutions including an independent FBA 
and a school placement; however, at the hearing Petitioner withdrew those requests and only sought the relief listed 
here.  
 
4 In the PHO, the Hearing Officer listed the five issues, two of which are not listed here. At the outset of the hearing, 
after clarification from Petitioner’s counsel, and with agreement of the parties, the former issue # 2 in the PHO was 
combined with the former issue #3 with regard to the alleged failure to implement IEP and the period of the alleged 
failure to implement was defined.  Thus, there is an amended issue # 2 listed in this HOD.  Respondent filed a 
motion to dismiss issue #4 listed in the due process complaint and that motion is addressed in this HOD.   
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1. Whether the LEA denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP on 
February 27, 2017.  

 
2. Whether the LEA denied the student a FAPE by failing to fully implement  current 

IEP from February 27, 2017, IEP until March 22, 2017.  
 

3. Whether the LEA denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop a compensatory 
education plan in response to its failure to provide the student with an appropriate 
education placement for SY 2014-2015, SY 2015-2016 and/or SY 2016-2017.5 

 
DCPS’ Motion to Dismiss  
 
On April 26, Respondent filed Motion to Dismiss as to issue # 4 as listed in the due process 
complaint and in the PHO to restrict Petitioner from seeking compensatory education related to 
the November 2, 2016, HOD. 6  
 
On May 1, 2017, Petitioner filed a response to Respondent’s motion in which Petitioner noted 
the at the February 27, 2017, meeting the MDT refused to consider compensatory education 
stating that compensatory education for a student could only be obtained through an HOD or 
settlement agreement.   
 
Respondent asserted in its motion that on August 25, 2016, the Petitioner filed a due process 
complaint against DCPS in which the Petitioner challenged the appropriateness of the student’s 
IEPs and placements since January 2014.  On September 21, 2016, the other Hearing Officer 
issued his PHO that provided that the IEPs since January 2014 and the student’s placements were 
being challenged in the hearing.  The November 2, 2016, HOD decided an issue of fact or law 
and that decision precludes re-litigation of those issue(s).  
 
Respondent asserted in its motion that this Hearing Officer is precluded from proceeding on 
issues related to a claim for compensatory education under any prior due process complaint 
based on collateral estoppel and issue preclusion because the November 2, 2016, HOD is a “final 
order” which could have been and was not appealed.  Respondent asserts that because Petitioner 
did not challenge the order with an appeal, the decision of that Hearing Officer, and the limited 
relief he provided is final.  
 
“The collateral estoppel doctrine provides that ‘when an issue of ultimate fact has once been 
determined by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same 
parties in any future lawsuit.’ ”) U.S. v. Wells, 347 F.3d 280, 285 (8th Cir. 2003) The 
requirements that must be satisfied before the doctrine of collateral estoppel is applied are similar 
to those for res judicata, but there are differences. First, the issues in the first and second 
litigation must be identical and must have been before a court. Second, the issue must have been 

                                                
5  The issue is styled in this way to cover the period that the Hearing Officer in the November 2, 2016, HOD 
determined there was a denial of FAPE to the student for which compensatory education is being sought.  
 
6 Although the motion was styled as against issue #4 only, Respondent asserted in the motion that this Hearing 
Officer was precluded from proceeding at all on issues #4 and # 5 of the PHO. 
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actually litigated. Third, a final judgment must have been rendered, ultimately deciding the issue 
in question. 
 
Although issue #4 is enumerated in the PHO, the PHO clearly states in a footnote that the issues 
are not being adjudicated.  The Hearing Officer notes, based upon discussions during the pre-
hearing conference, that Petitioner is asserting that the previous Hearing Officer noted that the 
relief granted was partial relief and he granted Petitioner an evaluation with an explicit purpose 
to assist in the determination of compensatory education.   
 
Respondent in its motion also argued that to the extent that Petitioner argues that the Hearing 
Officer preserved or allowed the Petitioner to proceed with a compensatory education claim 
based upon his HOD, this would violate the IDEA. Pursuant to 34 C.F.R. § 300.514 the HOD 
once issued is final.   
 
A parent or a public agency may file a due process complaint on any of the matters described in 
§300.503(a)(1) and (2) (relating to the identification, evaluation or educational placement of a 
child with a disability, or the provision of FAPE to the child). (See 34 C.F.R. § 300.507.)  As 
Petitioner aptly points out in her response the issue of compensatory education in this matter 
relates to the provision of FAPE to this student.   
 
Finally, Respondent asserted in its motion that Petitioner was an aggrieved party in that the 
Hearing Officer failed to award all of the relief requested by the Petitioner, and the Petitioner 
must file an appeal to seek that additional relief.  Oconee County Sch. Dist. v. A.B., 64 IDELR 
307 (M.D. Ga. 2015), reconsideration denied, 65 IDELR 17 (M.D. Ga. 2015) (noting that an ALJ 
awarded a teenager's parent 50 percent of the transportation costs she incurred by driving her son 
to and from school).  
 
However, as Petitioner aptly points out in her response in “Oconee County Sch. Dist. v. A.B., the 
Hearing Officer provided some compensatory relief and denied some of the requested 
compensatory relief.  The hearing officer made his final decision, and did not allow the 
Petitioner to reserve any compensatory education decision in order to obtain more information. 
 
It her response to the motion, Petitioner cites Lee v. District of Columbia, USDC-DC, cv # 15-
1802,1 where the Court held that a hearing officer cannot deny a compensatory education award 
simply because she is left wanting for more evidence.  The Court in that decision states:  
 

“This focus on the student's individualized needs means that a hearing officer cannot 
deny a compensatory education award simply because she is left wanting for more 
evidence. "Once a plaintiff has established that she is entitled to an award, simply 
refusing to grant one clashes with Reid, which sought to eliminate 'cookie-cutter' awards 
in favor of a 'qualitative focus on individual needs' of disabled students." Stanton ex rel. 
K.T. v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 2d 201, 207 (D.D.C. 2010) (quoting Reid, 401 
F.3d at 524, 527). "Choosing instead to award plaintiff nothing does not represent the 
'qualitative focus' on [the student's] 'individual needs' that Reid requires." Id. (applying 
Reid, 401 F.3d 516). In short, a hearing officer "cannot simply 'reject[ ] any award of 
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compensatory education services[.]'" Id. (quoting Brown v. District of Columbia, 568 F. 
Supp. 2d 44, 54 (D.D.C. 2008)).  
 
A hearing officer who finds that she needs more information to make the required 
individualized assessment has at least two options. She can provide the parties additional 
time to supplement the record. See id.  Or, as the Court of Appeals emphasized 
in B.D., she can order additional assessments as needed. See 817 F.3d at 800 (stating that 
"the district court or Hearing Officer should not hesitate to order" further assessments as 
needed). At bottom, the hearing officer must ascertain what information she needs to 
make the individualized assessment required under Reid and B.D., and she possesses 
"broad discretion" under the IDEA's remedial provisions to obtain such information and 
to craft appropriate relief. See Reid, 401 F. 3d at 523.” 

 
In the November 2, 2016, HOD the Hearing Officer stated “In light of the serious denials of 
FAPE suffered by Student since enrolling at PCS-2, clearly, the IEE assessment will be only a 
partial remedy.  Petitioner shall not be precluded from filing a new due process request to seek 
additional compensatory education if warranted.”  The Hearing Officer stated the following in 
his order: “Additional compensatory education relief for the denials of FAPE found in this 
decision is denied without prejudice, based upon Petitioner’s election to defer seeking such 
relief, in a new proceeding, until after Student’s IEE psychological evaluation is completed.” 
 
As Petitioner aptly points out in her response to Respondent’s motion, the Hearing Officer in the 
November 2, 2016, HOD specifically provided “partial relief” and permitted the parent to return 
after the student received an IEP to obtain the remaining relief due. 
 
The current Hearing Officer notes that the District Court in Lee v. District of Columbia cited 
above clearly gives authority to a Hearing Officer to order such evaluations for purposes of 
determining compensatory education.  If there was no remedy available to a party after the 
evaluation was obtained, then such an order from the Hearing Officer and/or the District Court 
would be meaningless. Consequently, the Hearing Officer concludes that DCPS’ motion to 
dismiss the issue(s) related to the November 2, 2016, HOD should be and is hereby denied.  
However, the Hearing Officer based on the footnote included in the PHO did not list issue #4 
from the PHO as an issue to be adjudicated in this HOD, but addresses Petitioner’s claim for 
compensatory education that stems from the November 2, 2016, HOD in issue #3.  
 
RELEVANT EVIDENCE CONSIDERED: 
 
This Hearing Officer considered the testimony of the witnesses and the documents submitted in 
the parties’ disclosures (Petitioner’s Exhibits 1 through 24 and Respondent’s Exhibits 1 through 
12) that were admitted into the record and are listed in Appendix A.7   Witnesses’ identifying 
information is listed in Appendix B.8    

                                                
7 Any items disclosed and not admitted or admitted for limited purposes was noted on the record and summarized in 
Appendix A.   
 
8 Petitioner presented five witnesses: Petitioner, an independent clinical psychologist, and three educational 
consultants. Respondent presented two witnesses: the School A special education coordinator and the School A 
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SUMMARY OF DECISION: 
 
Respondent sustained the burden or proof that the student’s current IEP is appropriate and 
Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof that the student’s February 26, 2017, IEP was not 
implemented.  Based upon the violations determined in the November 2, 2017, IEP the Hearing 
Officer concluded Petitioner demonstrated that the student was due compensatory education 
from the denials of FAPE determined in the November 2, 2017, HOD for which she was 
provided a partial remedy and the Hearing Officer grants the student, based on the evidence 
presented in this hearing, compensatory education in the amount of 200 hours of independent 
tutoring.  
 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 9   
 

1. The student resides in the District of Columbia and is a child with a disability pursuant to 
IDEA with disability classification of MD including SLD and OHI due to ADHD.  
(Petitioner’s Exhibits 5-1, 7-1)   

 
2. The student currently attends School A, a District of Columbia public charter school for 

which DCPS is the LEA.  The student began attending School A at the start of school SY 
2013-2014.   (Parent’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibit 2-5) 

 
3. Petitioner filed a due process complaint on August 25, 2016, in which she alleged DCPS 

failed to adequately and timely evaluate the student; failed to develop appropriate IEPs 
on January 18, 2014, January 7, 2015, and February 29, 2016, and failed to provide an 
appropriate special education placement for those years.  (Petitioner’ Exhibit 2-2, 2-4)   

 
4. On November 2, 2016, another Hearing Officer issued a HOD on the due process 

complaint filed on August 25, 2016, in which that Hearing Officer he found that the LEA 
denied the student a FAPE for failing to evaluate student and failing to develop 
appropriate IEPs on January 7, 2015 and February 29, 2016.  As remedy for the denials 
of FAPE determined, the HOD ordered DCPS to fund an independent comprehensive 
psychological evaluation (“IEE”) at a cost not to exceed $3,000. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 2-1, 
2-2, 2-9, 2-10, 2-11, 2-19, 2-20, 2-21) 

 
5. The November 2, 2016, HOD stated that the remedy of the IEE was partial compensation 

for the denials of FAPE and that the Petitioner “shall not be precluded from filing a new 
due process request to seek additional compensatory education if warranted.” 
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 2-20) 

                                                                                                                                                       
psychologist.  
 
9 The evidence (documentary and/or testimony) that is the source of the Findings of Fact (“FOF”) is noted within a 
parenthesis following the finding.  A document is noted by the exhibit number.  The second number following the 
exhibit number denotes the page of the exhibit (or the page number of the entire dislcosure document) from which 
the fact was extracted.  When citing an exhibit that has been submitted by more than one party separately the 
Hearing Officer may only cite one party’s exhibit.   
 



  8 

 
6. In addition to ordering that DCPS fund the IEE, the Hearing Officer ordered that DCPS 

upon being provided the completed IEE promptly convene an IEP meeting to review and 
revise the student’s IEP as appropriate and ensure the student is offered a suitable 
education location to implement the IEP.  The November 2, 2016, HOD went on to state 
the following: “2. Additional compensatory education relief for denials of FAPE found in 
this decision is denied without prejudice, based upon Petitioner’s election to defer 
seeking such relief, in a new proceeding, until after Student’s IEE psychological 
evaluation is completed and 3. All other relief requested by the Petitioner is herein 
denied.”  (Petitioner’s Exhibit 2-21) 

 
7. The Hearing Officer only granted partial relief for the denials of FAPE determined and 

granted the IEE as partial relief for the denials of FAPE that were determined in the 
HOD.  The student went without an appropriate program and placement while at School 
A, and specifically, the student’s January 15, 2015, and February 29, 2016, IEPs were 
found to be inappropriate.   (Petitioner’s Exhibit 2-19, 2-20, 2-21) 

 
8. Petitioner obtained the IEE ordered by the November 2, 2016, HOD.  The evaluation was 

conducted on December 30, 2016.  The evaluator conducted assessments of the student’s 
cognitive functioning, academic achievement and social emotional functioning. The 
evaluator interviewed the student’s parent and the student and obtained behavior-rating 
inventories from the student’s teachers.  The student’s cognitive functioning score was 89 
and fell in the Low Average range at the 23rd percentile.  processing speed was 
impaired which would require  to need extra time on timed tasks.   attention and 
executive functioning were consistent with an ADHD diagnosis.   language scores 
were in superior range.  (Witness 1’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibit 3-1, 3-5, 3-8, 3-10, 
3-23 ) 

 
9. The student’s academic functioning in reading was in the Low Average range and  

would have difficulty in reading grade level text.  In written language  scored Low 
Average to Below Average range, and in math  scored in the Impaired range. The 
evaluator concluded the student’s assessment data was consistent with a specific learning 
disability in the areas of reading and written expression.  The student’s social skills and 
work effort appeared to be  strengths.  Based upon the assessments results the 
evaluator recommended the student be in a self-contained resource room for language 
arts and math, or at have least daily pullout instruction in these areas. The evaluator also 
recommended assistive technology to assist in reading, such as audio books.   
(Witness1’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibit 3-29, 3-17, 3-30) 

 
10. On February 27, 2017, School A convened an IEP meeting to review the IEE.  Petitioner 

participated in the meeting along with her attorney. During the meeting Petitioner’s 
attorney asked about compensatory education. The DCPS compliance case manager 
stated that they were not discussing compensatory education but only concerns with the 
IEP.  The MDT refused to consider compensatory education related to the November 2, 
2016, HOD.   (Petitioner’s Exhibit 4-1, 4-4) 

 



  9 

11. The IEP team considered the data from the IEE at the February 27, 2017, meeting. The 
student’s current IEP was developed on February 27, 2017.  The IEP notes the student’s 
disability classification as MD with SLD and OHI.  The IEP prescribes the following 
services: 5 hours each per week of specialized instruction outside general education in 
reading, written expression and math for a total of 15 hours of specialized instruction 
outside general education per week.  The IEP also prescribes 30 minutes of behavioral 
support services per week outside general education and 30 minutes per week of 
occupational therapy (“OT”) outside general education.  (Witness 8’s testimony, 
Petitioner’s Exhibit 7-1, 7-11) 

 
12. The student’s February 27, 2017, IEP includes a list of assistive technology (“AT”) to be 

provided the student including “Text to Speech,” “Speech to Text,” and Word Prediction.  
The IEP also includes a list of classroom and testing accommodations including the use 
of a calculator and AT devises, preferential seating, extended time and frequent breaks.    
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 7-11, 7-13)  

 
13. The student’s February 27, 2017, IEP includes a transition plan that is based on based 

upon the MAP Assessment and the Casey Life Skills Assessment. The transition plan 
includes the goal of the student attending  a two to four year college.  It appears the 
transition goals that are currently in the student’s IEP are above the student’s current 
functioning level in math.  The Brigance would be an appropriate assessment that would 
help define and refine the transition goals for the student. (Witness 4’s testimony, 
Petitioner’s Exhibit 7-15)  

 
14. The secondary transition plan in the student’s IEP was discussed at the meeting and 

agreed to by the team as appropriate and there has been no communication from 
Petitioner to School A about the transition plan. (Witness 7’s testimony, Respondent’s 8-
16) 

 
15. The IEP team, including Petitioner agreed to IEP goals and believed that the present 

levels of performance (“PLOPs’) and baselines were specific and measurable.  The IEP 
team at the February 27, 2017, IEP meeting agreed for the IEP goals to include the 
student’s participation in afterschool activities.  There was no objection by any team 
member at the February 27, 2017, meeting to the goals that referred to after school 
activities.  There were no requests during the meeting for any changes to the goals from 
Petitioner or her attorney.  (Witness 7’s testimony)  

 
16. Immediately following the February 27, 2017, IEP meeting School A began providing the 

student the 15 hours per week of specialized instruction outside general education 
consistent with what the team agreed to at the February 27, 2017, IEP meeting.  (Witness 
7’s testimony, Respondent’s Exhibit 7-1, 7-11) 

 
17. The student has been provided the related services that are prescribed by  IEP.  

(Witness 7’s testimony,  Witness 8’s testimony, Respondent’s Exhibits 9, 10)  
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student’s educational records and evaluations.  The proposal assumed that the student 
would be compensated for School A failing to evaluate the student, failing to develop 
IEPs for 2014, 2015 and 2016 and failing to revise IEPs based on lack of academic 
progress.   The consultant calculated the missed services as approximately 1450 hours 
from the student not receiving services outside general education.  However, the 
November 2, 2016, HOD did not specifically state the number of hours that were missed 
outside general education.   The consultant recommended the student be provided a 
multi-sensory reading, spelling/writing and math programs for 550 academic 
compensatory education hours over a period of two to three years and that  be provided 
text to speech and speech to text software to catch  up to grade level as much as 
possible.  The student acknowledged to the consultant that  does better in smaller 
classes and would take advantage of tutoring support.  (Witness 3’s testimony, 
Petitioner’s Exhibit 19). 

 
 CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  
 
Pursuant to IDEA §1415 (f)(3)(E)(i) a decision made by a hearing officer shall be made on 
substantive grounds based on a determination of whether the child received a free appropriate 
public education (“FAPE”).  
 
34 C.F.R. § 300.17 provides: 
A free appropriate public education or FAPE means special education and related services that-- 
(a) Are provided at public expense, under public supervision and direction, and without charge; 
(b) Meet the standards of the SEA, including the requirements of this part; (c) Include an 
appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary school education in the State involved; 
and (d) Are provided in conformity with an individualized education program (IEP) that meets 
the requirements of Sec. 300.320 through 300.324 
 
Pursuant to IDEA §1415 (f)(3)(E)(ii) in matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing officer 
may find that a child did not receive FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies impeded the 
child’s right to FAPE, significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the 
decision-making process regarding provision of FAPE, or caused the child a deprivation of 
educational benefits.  An IDEA claim is viable only if [DCPS’] procedural violations affected 
the student’s substantive rights.” Lesesne v. District of Columbia, 447 F.3d 828, 834 (D.C. Cir. 
2006) 
 
Pursuant to 5E DCMR 3030.14 the burden of proof is the responsibility of the party seeking 
relief.  Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S.Ct. 528 (2005). The normal standard is 
preponderance of the evidence. See, e.g. N.G. v. District of Columbia 556 F. Supp. 2d (D.D.C. 
2008) see also 20 U.S.C. §1451 (i)(2)(C)(iii).  In this case, Petitioner has both the burden of 
production and persuasion on the following issues above: #2, and #3,  Respondent held the 
burden of persuasion on #1 after a  prima facie case was met. 10 

                                                
10 DC Code § 38-2571.03 (6) provides: 
 (A) In special education due process hearings occurring pursuant to IDEA (20 U.S.C. § 1415(f) and 20 U.S.C. § 
1439(a)(1)), the party who filed for the due process hearing shall bear the burden of production and the burden of 
persuasion; except, that: 
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ISSUE 1: Whether the LEA denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate IEP 
on February 27, 2017.  
 
Conclusion:  Respondent sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that 
the student’s February 27, 2017, IEP was reasonably calculated to provide the student 
educational benefit and is appropriate. 
 
In Board of Education v. Rowley the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-part inquiry for 
determining whether a school district has satisfied the FAPE requirement. First, the state must 
have "complied with the procedures set forth in the Act." Rowley, 458 U.S. at 206. Second, the 
IEP that is developed must be "reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational 
benefits." Rowley, 458 U.S. at 206-07. To be appropriate under 34 C.F.R. § 300.324, the IEP 
must consider the (i) strengths of the child; (ii) concerns of the parents; (iii) results of the initial 
or most recent evaluation; and (iv) academic, developmental, and functional needs of the child. 
 
“The IEP is the “centerpiece” of the IDEA’s system for delivering education to disabled 
children,” D.S. v. Bayonne Bd. of Educ., 54 IDELR 141 (2010) (quoting Polk v. Cent. 
Susquehanna Intermediate Unit 16, 853 F.2d 171, 173 (3d Cir. 1988), and the centerpiece for the 
implementation of FAPE is the IEP. S.H. v. State-Operated Sch .Dist. of the City of Newark, 336 
F.3d 260, 264 (3d Cir. 2003). 
 
An IEP need not conform to a parent’s wishes in order to be sufficient or appropriate. See Shaw 
v. Dist. of Columbia, 238 F. Supp. 2d 127, 139 (D.D.C. 2002). While parents may desire “more 
services and more individualized attention,” when the IEP meets the requirements discussed 
above, such additions are not required. See, e.g., Aaron P. v. Dep't of Educ., Hawaii, No. 10-574, 
2011 WL 5320994 (D. Hawaii Oct. 31, 2011) (while “sympathetic” to parents’ frustration that 
child had not progressed in public school “as much as they wanted her to,” court noted that “the 
role of the district court in IDEA appeals is not to determine whether an educational agency 
offered the best services available”).  Ultimately, a school district provides a FAPE so long as a 
child receives some educational benefit.  O.S. by Michael S. and Amy S. v. Fairfax County Sch. 
Bd., 115 LRP 50343 (4th Cir. October 19, 2015). 
 
                                                                                                                                                       

(i) Where there is a dispute about the appropriateness of the child’s individual educational program or 
placement, or of the program or placement proposed by the public agency, the public agency shall hold the burden 
of persuasion on the appropriateness of the existing or proposed program or placement; provided, that the party 
requesting the due process hearing shall retain the burden of production and shall establish a prima facie case before 
the burden of persuasion falls on the public agency. The burden of persuasion shall be met by a preponderance of the 
evidence. 

(ii) Where a party seeks tuition reimbursement for unilateral placement, the party seeking 
reimbursement shall bear the burden of production and the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the 
unilateral placement; provided, that the hearing officer shall have the authority to bifurcate a hearing regarding a 
unilateral placement; provided further, that if the hearing officer determines that the program offered by the public 
agency is appropriate, it is not necessary to inquire into the appropriateness of the unilateral placement. 
(B) This paragraph shall apply to special education due process hearings resulting from complaints filed after July 1, 
2016. 
 
 



  13 

Pursuant to Schaefer v. Weast, 554 F.3d 470 (U.S. App. 2009), the Hearing Officer must “focus 
on the adequacy of the IEP at the time it was created, and ask if it was reasonably calculated at 
that time to enable the student to receive educational benefits.” Schaefer v. Weast, 554 F.3d 47 
The "reasonably calculated" qualification reflects a recognition that crafting an appropriate 
program of education requires a prospective judgment by school officials, informed by their own 
expertise and the views of a child's parents or guardians; any re-view of an IEP must appreciate 
that the question is whether the IEP is reasonable, not whether the court regards it as ideal.  
 
Although there was testimony presented by Petitioner’s expert witness that conducted an 
observation of the student at School A who testified that the student’s February 27, 2017, IEP 
was inappropriate for a number of reasons, the Hearing Officer did not find this witnesses 
testimony convincing.  The evidence clearly demonstrated that the February 27, 2017, IEP team 
considered and included the results of the IEE and incorporated those results in the student’s IEP 
goals, PLOPs, baselines, services and accommodations.  Although there may have been 
refinements and improvements made to the student’s IEP as result of this witness’ observations 
and input, there was no indication that her input was provided to School A before or after the IEP 
meeting, or that the student’s IEP was not appropriate because it did not include the items that 
this witness suggested.   
 
Likewise, Petitioner’s other witness who testified about the student’s transition plan stated that 
the student’s plan could be improved by the student being provided an additional assessment.  
However, her testimony was insufficient to demonstrate the fact that the IEP could be improved 
results in the IEP being inappropriate at the time the team developed it.  As with the other 
consultant Petitioner engaged, none of this input was available to the team and neither Petitioner 
nor her attorney who participated as team members at the February 27, 2017, IEP meeting asked 
for any of the adjustments these witnesses recommended during their testimony.  On the other 
hand, School A’s special education coordinator and psychologist credibly testified that the 
results of the IEE were considered by the team and that the IEP goals, PLOPs, baselines and 
other components of the IEP are appropriate.  Consequently, the Hearing Officer concludes that 
Respondent’s sustained the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that the student’s 
February 27, 2017, IEP, including any subsequent amendment(s), is appropriate.   
 
ISSUE 2: Whether the LEA denied the student a FAPE by failing to fully implement  current 
IEP from February 27, 2017, IEP until March 22, 2017.  
 
Conclusion:  Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence 
that School A did not implement the student’s IEP from February 27, 2017, to March 22, 2017. 
 
For a failure to implement claim, the IDEA is violated only when a school district 
deviates materially from a student's IEP. See James v. Dist. of Columbia, 194 F. Supp. 
3d 131, 139 (D.D.C. 2016); The IDEA is violated when a school district deviates 
materially from a student's IEP. Wilson v. District of Columbia, 770 F. Supp. 2d 270, 
275 (D.D.C. 2011) (citation omitted). A material failure occurs when there is more than 
a minor discrepancy between the services a school provides to a disabled child and the 
services required by that child's IEP. Holman v. District of Columbia, No. 14-1836, 2016 
WL 355066 (D.D.C. 2016) (citing Van Duyn ex rel. Van Duyn v. Baker Sch. Dist. 



  14 

5J, 502 F.3d 811, 822 (9th Cir. 2007)). In other words, for the court to find a failure to 
implement an IEP, the school board or local authorities must have "failed to implement 
substantial or significant provisions of the IEP." Wilson, 770 F. Supp. 2d at 274 (citing 
Houston Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Bobby R., 200 F.3d 341, 349 (5th Cir. 2000)). There is no 
requirement that the child suffer educational harm in order to find a violation; rather, the 
proportion of services mandated compared with those provided is "the crucial measure 
for purposes of determining whether there has been a material failure to implement" an 
IEP.  
 
The evidence in this case, based on the credible testimony of the School A special 
education coordinator, demonstrates that the student’s IEP was promptly implemented 
immediately following the February 27, 2017, IEP meeting and there has been no lapse 
of services to the student. Although there was testimony from Petitioner’s witness of her 
difficulty obtaining the student’s class schedule and there was testimony even from 
Respondent that the student does not always attend  classes, the evidence clearly 
demonstrated that the specialized instruction and related services mandated by the 
student’s IEP was and is being made available to .  Consequently, the Hearing 
Officer concludes that Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance 
of the evidence on this issue.   

ISSUE 3: Whether the LEA denied the student a FAPE by failing to develop a compensatory 
education plan in response to its failure to provide the student with an appropriate education 
placement for SY 2014-2015, SY 2015-2016 and/or SY 2016-2017. 
 
Conclusion:  Petitioner sustained the burden of proof by preponderance of the evidence that the 
student was denied a FAPE as determined by the November 2, 2016, HOD and that student was 
entitled to, and would benefit from, additional compensatory education in the form of 
independent tutoring.   
 
As  noted above, this issue was styled in this way to cover the period that the Hearing Officer in 
the November 2, 2016, HOD determined there was a denial of FAPE to the student for which 
compensatory education is being sought.  As discussed in the ruling on DCPS motion above, the 
Hearing Officer in the November 2, 2016, HOD specifically provided “partial relief” and 
permitted the parent to return after the student received an IEP to obtain the remaining relief due. 
 
The current Hearing Officer notes that District Court in Lee v. District of Columbia cited above 
clearly gives authority to a Hearing Officer to order such evaluations for purposes of determining 
compensatory education.  If there was no remedy available to a parties after the evaluation was 
obtained, then such an order from the Hearing Officer and/or the District Court would be 
meaningless. Consequently, the Hearing Officer concluded Petitioner’s claim for compensatory 
education that stems from the November 2, 2016, HOD could be adjudicated.   

Petitioner presented sufficient evidence based on the student’s recent IEE that indicates that  is 
operating below grade level academically and based on Petitioner’s testimony and the record and 
evidence of the student’s academic failures at School A, the Hearing Officer concludes the 
student is due and would benefit from compensatory education in the form of independent 
tutoring to assist  in gaining basic academic skills and making up for courses  has failed 
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while attending School A.  The evidence demonstrates that the Hearing Officer in November 2, 
2016, clearly anticipated that the IEE would serve as a partial remedy and that evaluation would 
be considered in determining whether additional compensatory education was warranted.  The 
evidence demonstrates that when that evaluation was reviewed, the LEA simply dismissed 
consideration of additional compensatory education without regard to any denials of FAPE to the 
student that had been determined to exist while  was at School A and any need for remediation 
of the harm to the student for the denials of FAPE.  

Although the compensatory education proposal that Petitioner presented was for 550 hours of 
independent tutoring , the proposal stated that it was designed to compensate for periods that 
went beyond the findings and conclusions of the November 2, 2016, HOD and did not take into 
account that the HOD had already granted the student partial relief by granting the IEE.  
Consequently, the Hearing Officer finds it reasonable to reduce the amount of tutoring the 
student should be provided from that proposed by Petitioner. 

Remedy: 

A hearing officer may award appropriate equitable relief when there has been an actionable 
violation of IDEA. See 20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii)(II); Eley v. District of Columbia, 2012 WL 
3656471, 11 (D.D.C. Aug. 24, 2012) (citing Branham v. District of Columbia, 427 F.3d at 11–
12.)  ( The Hearing Officer has concluded that the student was not provided special education 
services for a total of three (3) school days, that  was removed from school without the benefit 
of a MDR, no FBA, and no BIP.   [Where does this come from…it’s not in the Facts?] 

Under the theory of compensatory education, "courts and hearing officers may award 
educational services, to be provided prospectively, to compensate for a past deficient 
program.  The inquiry must be fact-specific and, to accomplish IDEA's purposes, the ultimate 
award must be reasonably calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have 
accrued from special education services the school district should have supplied in the first 
place." Reid, 401 F.3d 522 & 524.  To aid the court or hearing officer's fact-specific inquiry, "the 
parties must have some opportunity to present evidence regarding [the student's] specific 
educational deficits resulting from his loss of FAPE and the specific compensatory measures 
needed to best correct those deficits." Id. at 526.   
 
In this instance, Petitioner present a proposal that overstated the period in which services would, 
or should have been provided to the student, and overstated the services that would compensate 

.  However, there was clear evidence that the student would benefit from and is motivated to 
take advantage of any independent tutoring  is offered.  In addition, there is clearly a need for 

 to use the tutoring to compensate for the academic deficits  has and courses  has failed 
while attending School A during the period addressed in the November 2, 2016, HOD.  The 
Hearing Officer concludes that DCPS should provide the student independent tutoring services in 
the amount of 200 hours as the remainder of compensatory education the student is due as result 
of the denials of FAPE that have been determined.  
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ORDER: 11 
 

1. DCPS shall, within ten (10) school days of the issuance of this Order, authorize and fund 
independent tutoring for the student in the amount of two hundred (200) hours at the 
OSSE prescribed rate. 

 
2. All other relief requested by Petitioner is denied. 

 
APPEAL PROCESS: 
 
The decision issued by the Hearing Officer is final, except that any party aggrieved by the 
findings and decision of the Hearing Officer shall have ninety (90) days from the date of the 
decision of the Hearing Officer to file a civil action with respect to the issues presented at the due 
process hearing in a District Court of the United States or a District of Columbia court of 
competent jurisdiction, as provided in 20 U.S.C. §1415(i)(2). 
 
 
 
/S/   Coles B. Ruff    
_________________________ 
Coles B. Ruff, Esq. 
Hearing Officer       
Date: June 20, 2017 
 
 
 
 
Copies to: Counsel for Petitioner 
  Counsel for LEA  

OSSE-SPED {due.process@dc.gov} 
ODR {hearing.office@dc.gov} 
contact.resolution@dc.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                
11 Any delay in Respondent meeting the timelines of this Order that is the result of action or inaction by Petitioner 
shall extend the timelines on a day for day basis. 
 




